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PER CURI AM *

Defendant Harold E. Wiitnore appeals his conviction for
conspiracy to possess cocaine with intent to distribute in
violation of 21 U. S.C. 8§ 846; noney laundering in violation of 18
US C 8 1956(a)(1)(B)(l); possession of cocaine with intent to
distribute in violation of 21 U S . C. 8§ 851(a)(1l); and aiding and
abetting in violation of 18 U S.C. § 2. Because we find no error

in the proceedi ngs below, we affirm

Local Rule 47.5.1 provides: "The publication of opinions that have
no precedential value and nerely decide particular cases on the basis of well-
settled principles of |aw inposes needl ess expense on the public and burdens on

the | egal profession.” Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has determ ned that this
opi ni on shoul d not be published.



I

Wi t nore was a successful drag racer, who becane i nvol ved with
a cocaine distribution ring that was intricately connected to the
drag racing world. difford Rogers and Charles Allison were drug
dealers who distributed nulti-kilogram quantities of cocaine.
Rogers and Allison bought their cocaine froma variety of |arger
drug distributors, including Robert MDonal d, Charles Evans, and
Raynond Lopez (the all eged "head" of the ring). Witnore, Rogers,
and Allison becane friends due to their shared interest in cars.

At sone point, Witnore becane interested in the drug
busi ness. According to testinony, Wiitnore | oaned |arge suns of
money to both Rogers and Allison for the purchase of cocaine
extracting huge "interest" paynents until each returned the noney.
Whitnore ultimately becane "partners" with Allison, and the two
split the proceeds of Allison's drug transactions. As evidence of
Whitnore's deeper involvenent in the drug distribution ring,
Wi t nore gave i ncreasi ng anounts of assistance to the drug deal ers.
On several occasions, Witnore helped Allison and Rogers by
"guar ant eei ng" paynent for large cocaine purchases from drug
distributors. In addition, Whitnore purchased two autonobiles with
cash, one for Evans and one for Rogers. Witnore also retrieved a
kil ogram of cocaine that Allison had di scarded when he thought the
police were chasing him

Wi t nore appeal s his conviction on several grounds: (1) that
t he evi dence was insufficient to convict himon both the conspiracy

and noney | aundering charges; (2) that the governnment conceal ed
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excul patory evidence in violation of Brady v. Miryland, 373 U S.
83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963); (3) that the state's
proof varied materially fromthe indictnent; (4) that the district
court inproperly rejected his proposed jury instructions; (5) that
certain DEAreports were i nproperly admtted i nto evi dence; and (6)
that his crimnal prosecution violated the Doubl e Jeopardy C ause
of the Constitution.
I

Whitnore argues that the governnment presented insufficient
evidence to support his conspiracy and noney |aundering
convi cti ons. When an appellant challenges his conviction for
sufficiency of the evidence, we apply a deferential standard of
review. "whether, after viewing the evidence and all inferences
t hat may reasonably be drawn fromit in the |ight nost favorable to
t he prosecution, any reasonably-m nded jury could have found that
t he defendant was guilty beyond a reasonabl e doubt."” United States
v. Triplett, 922 F. 2d 1174, 1177 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 500 U S
945, 111 S. O . 2245, 114 L. Ed. 2d 486 (1991). The evi dence need
not excl ude every reasonabl e hypot hesis of innocence or be wholly
i nconsistent wwth guilt. 1d. So long as a rational trier of fact
coul d have found the defendant guilty beyond a reasonabl e doubt,
the conviction will stand. United States v. Smth, 930 F.2d 1081,
1085 (5th Gir. 1991).

To support a conviction for drug conspiracy, the governnment
must establish, "(1) an agreenent existed between two or nore

persons to violate narcotics |laws; (2) each alleged conspirator
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knew of the conspiracy and intended to join it; and (3) each
al l eged conspirator voluntarily participated in the conspiracy."
United States v. Crain, 33 F.3d 480, 485 (5th Cr. 1994), cert.
denied, __ US __ , 115 S. Ct. 1142, 130 L. Ed. 2d 1102 (1995).
The jury may infer the existence of a <conspiracy from
circunstantial evidence, and may rely on, anong other facts,
presence and associ ation with other conspirators. United States v.
Fierro, 38 F.3d 761, 768 (5th Gr. 1994), cert. denied, ___ U S.
_, 115 S. Ct. 1431, 131 L. Ed. 2d 212 (1995). It is no defense
that the defendant's role was conparatively mnor. United States
v. Montemayer, 703 F.2d 109, 115 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 464 U S
822, 104 S. Ct. 89, 78 L. Ed. 2d 97 (1983).

Wi t nore argues that the evidence was i nsufficient because no
wtness testified that Witnore actually knew of the drug
conspiracy. The testinony at trial, however, provided anple
evidence fromwhich a jury could infer Whitnore's participation in
and know edge of the conspiracy. Testinony indicated that Witnore
made | oans to both Rogers and Allison for the purchases of |arge
quantities of cocaine. Whitnore's involvenent was further
evi denced by extrenely high interest paynents nade on these | oans
(for exanple, $1,000 per week interest on a $6,000 |Ioan).
Testinony further indicated that Witnore woul d guarantee paynent
for cocai ne that Rogers purchased from McDonal d, and that Wi tnore
and Allison becane partners when Whitnore realized how much noney
coul d be nade ($5,000 to $10,000 per week). |In addition, Allison

testified that Whitnore had retrieved a kil ogram of cocai ne which
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Al lison had hidden when he thought he was being chased by the
police. This testinony, viewed in the |ight nost favorable to the
state, supports the inference that Witnore know ngly partici pated
inthe conspiracy to distribute cocaine. Accordingly, we hold that
the evidence was sufficient to support Witnore's conspiracy
convi cti on.

A conviction for noney |aundering, under 18 U. S.C
8§ 1956(a)(1)(B)(l), requires the governnment to prove that the
def endant knew the noney involved in the transaction was from an
illicit source, and that the defendant intended the transaction to
conceal or disguise the nature, |ocation, source, ownership, or
control of the property. United States v. Tolliver, 61 F.3d 1189,
1217 (5th Cr. 1995). Witnore argues that the state failed to
provide sufficient evidence that he knew the two autonobile
purchases involved the proceeds of illegal drug transactions.

Testi nony before the jury, however, indicated that Evans told
Wit nore that he wanted to purchase a 1989 Sil verado pi ck-up truck,
but was afraid of taking the necessary cash to an autonobile
deal er. Evans did not want the car dealer to nmake a record of the
cash transaction in his nane. Wi t nore purchased the truck for
$16, 000, and Evans gave Witnore a paper bag with $17,000 in $20
and $100 bills. Whitnmore then transferred the car's registration
to Evans. Evans testified that since Wiitnore knew Evans had no
j ob, he nmust have known Evans was a drug dealer. It was not
irrational for ajury toinfer fromthese facts (the unconventi onal

request to purchase an autonobile, the cash contained in a paper
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bag, and Evans's enpl oynent status) that Whitnore knew the noney
canme froman illicit source, and that he nade the unconventiona
transaction to conceal the noney's source.

Testinony indicated that Witnore bought Rogers a N ssan
Maxi ma for $5,500 and that Rogers gave Witnore $6,500 in cash
Rogers testified that Wi tnore knew he was a drug deal er and, |ike
Evans, wanted to keep his nane from being associated with such a
| arge cash transaction. Rogers testified that he was unenpl oyed
and that he believed that a | arge cash outlay would draw the I RS s
attention. According to other testinony before the jury, the
Maxi ma was only one of several autonobiles that Witnore purchased
on behal f of Rogers to disguise drug proceeds. Viewed in the |ight
nost favorable to the state, it was not irrational for the jury to
conclude that Witnore knew that the noney cane from ill egal
sources, and that he made the transaction on behalf of Rogers in
order to conceal the noney's origins. Accordingly we hold that
there was sufficient evidence to sustain Wiitnore's conviction on
nmoney | aunderi ng charges.

1]

Whi tnore contends that the governnent conceal ed excul patory
evidence in violation of the rule established in Brady v. Mryl and.
Whitnore argues that the governnent failed to disclose its
agreenent with three wtnesses))Allison, Anthony Johnson, and
Leonard Jinenez))that it would file a second notion, pursuant to

FED. R CRM P. 35 ("Rule 35"), to reduce each of their sentences



in exchange for their testinony.!?

A defendant's right to due process is violated when, upon
request for excul patory evidence, the governnent conceal s evi dence
that is both favorable to the defendant and material to the
defendant's guilt or innocence. Brady, 373 U S. at 87-88, 83 S.
Ct. at 1196-97. Evidence is material when a reasonabl e probability
exists that its disclosure woul d have caused a di fferent outcone at
trial. United States v. Bagley, 473 U. S. 667, 674-75, 105 S. C
3375, 3379, 87 L. Ed. 2d 481 (1985). A reasonable probability is
a probability sufficient to cast doubt on the outcone. Kyles v.
Witley, __ US __, _, 115 S. C. 1555, 1558, 131 L. Ed. 2d
490 (1995). Materiality is judged according to the cunul ative
effect of all the undisclosed evidence. Id. at 1567. However ,
i npeachnent or excul patory evidence that is "nerely cunul ative" is
not material. United States v. Weintraub, 871 F.2d 1257, 1264 (5th
Cir. 1989).

On behalf of Allison, Johnson, and Jinenez, the governnent
filed two Rule 35 notions to reduce their sentences i n exchange for
their testinony. Witnore clains he was never told of the second
round of notions. During cross-exam nation, however, each w tness
told the jury they were testifying in return for possible

reductions in their sentences. In closing argunent, defense

Wi tnore makes an alternative Brady argunent that the governnent
failed to disclose that one witness, MDonald, told DEA agents that he had never
borrowed noney from Wiitnore to purchase cocaine. This testinmony contradicts
Rogers' testinmony that MDonald had borrowed noney from Wiitnore to purchase
cocai ne. This inconsistency, however, in no way prejudi ced Wi tnore because the
governnent never tried to prove that Wiitnore lent noney to McDonald, only to
Rogers and Allison. Witnore has thus failed to show how McDonal d' s statenents
are material to the jury finding Wiitnore guilty of the crines charged.

-7-



counsel told the jury that the w tnesses had betrayed Witnore
"when their lives were on the line, when their jail tinme was on the
line." The jury knew that the wtnesses were trading their
testinony for the possibility of reduced jail tinme. Thus the jury
was free to discount the testinony of these three w tnesses, and
Wi t nrore nmakes no showing that there was a reasonabl e probability
that the jury would have ruled differently had it known of the
second round of Rule 35 notions. Accordingly the evidence of a
second Rule 35 notion on behalf of each wtness is "nerely
cumul ative" and is not material. See Wintraub, 871 F.2d at 1264
(hol di ng i npeachnment evidence withheld from the defense "nerely
cunul ative" and not materi al where evidence before the jury all owed
for adequate inpeachnent).
|V

Wi t nor e next argues that the governnent i nperm ssi bly anended
the indictnent, and in the alternative, that the evidence varied
inpermssibly from the indictnent. Whitnore contends the
governnent, by focusing on the acts of | ending noney to known drug
dealers, was trying to prove conspiracy to |aunder noney, not
conspiracy to possess cocaine with intent to distribute, as the
i ndi ct ment char ged.

A material variance occurs when there is a variation between
proof and indictnment without nodi fying an essential elenent of the
of fense charged. United States v. Puig-Infante, 19 F.3d 929, 935
(5th Gr.), cert. denied, _US __ , 115 S C. 180, 130 L. Ed.

2d 115 (1994). A court wll not reverse a conviction for materi al
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variance unl ess the variance prejudi ced the substantial rights of
t he defendant. ld. at 935-36. When the governnent proves one
conspiracy, the presentation of evidence of other conspiraci es does
not necessarily create a material variance. United States .
Val dez, 861 F.2d 427, 432 (5th Gr. 1988), cert. denied, 489 U S
1083, 109 S. C. 1539, 103 L. Ed. 2d 844 (1989).

The governnent charged VWhitnore with conspiracy to possess
cocaine with intent to distribute. The governnent proved that an
agreenent exi sted between Whitnore and others to violate narcotics
| aws, that each knew of this agreenent and intended to join the
conspiracy, and that each voluntarily participated in the
conspiracy. United States v. Crain, 33 F.3d 480, 485 (5th Gr.
1994), cert. denied, 115 S. C. 1142, 130 L. Ed. 2d 1102 (1995).
The fact that Wiitnore's overt acts (financing drug deals) m ght
al so support a conviction for conspiracy to | aunder noney does not
anopunt to a material variance. |d. The governnent sinply proved
what it had charged Whitnore with, and it is irrelevant that the
sane evi dence m ght support an additional conviction. W hold that
there was no material variance in this case. For the sane reasons,
we hold that the governnent did not inpermssibly anmend the
i ndi ct nment.

\%

Whitnore next argues that the district court inproperly
rejected his proposed jury instruction defining "possession" and
the "presunption of innocence." W reviewa jury charge for abuse

of discretion, and to determ ne whether it clearly and correctly
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states the law as applied to the facts of the case. United States
v. Lara-Vel asquez, 919 F.2d 946, 950 (5th Cr. 1990). A trial
court has substantial latitude in fashioning instructions that
adequately cover the issues in the case. United States .
Al li bhai, 939 F. 2d 244, 251 (5th Gr. 1991), cert. denied, 502 U. S
1072, 112 S. . 967, 117 L. Ed. 2d 133 (1992). W will only
reverse if (1) the proposed instruction was substantially correct,
(2) the actual instruction did not substantially cover the sane
issues, and (3) the failure to give the proposed instruction
seriously inpaired the defense. United States v. Box, 50 F. 3d 345,
354-55 (5th Gir. 1995).

Whitnore proposed an instruction on the presunption of
i nnocence and which stated that, unless the jury is satisfied
beyond a reasonabl e doubt, "the presunption alone is sufficient to
find the defendant not guilty." The actual instruction given on
the presunption of innocence stated that the jury nmust find the
def endant guilty beyond a reasonabl e doubt, or acquit him As to
possession, Witnore requested that the court tell the jury that
mere physical proximty to drugs, or presence in an area Wwth
drugs, or association with persons controlling drugs, is not
sufficient to find possession. The actual instruction given
defined possession in terns of intent and ability to possess or
actual control. Al t hough Wiitnore argues that his proposed
instructions were substantially correct, he fails to show how the
actual instructions given either do not accurately and adequately

cover the sane substantive lawor transmt the relevant i nformati on
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tothe jury. Further, Witnore fails to show how the instructions
given seriously inpaired his defense. Accordingly, we hold that
the court did not err inits charge to the jury.
W

Whitnore contends that the district court should not have
admtted a DEA report of an interviewwith Alison because it was
hearsay. W review evidentiary rulings for abuse of discretion.
United States v. Jinenez Lopez, 873 F.2d 769, 771 (5th Gr. 1989).
If the district court did err in the adm ssion of evidence, we nust
next determne if the error was harm ess, in effect, whether the
defendant's substantial rights were adversely affected. 1d. The
district court allowed the report to be introduced to show the
nature of a typographical m stake nmade by a testifying wtness.
The evidence concerned the anmount of cocaine that Witnore had
retrieved for Allison when Allison had been chased by the police.
Allison had testified that it was one Kkilo. The DEA agent
testified that in his report Allison had reported "one kilo," but
by m stake the Agent had typed "two kilos." The district court
then admtted the Agent's report to show the nature of his
t ypogr aphi cal m st ake. Whether or not this evidence was
i nper m ssi bl e hearsay, we hold that given the weight of the other
evi dence presented, the passing nature of this report, and the fact
that all wtnesses involved were thoroughly cross-exam ned, the
adm ssion of the DEA reports was harnmless and therefore not
reversible error. See United States v. Stone, 604 F.2d 922, 927
(5th Gr. 1979) (affirmng district court even though it admtted
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i nper m ssi bl e hearsay, because it had no "substantial influence
upon the result, and was harm ess").
VI

Wit nore argues that by seizing his property and then trying
himcrimnally for the sane conduct, the governnment has viol ated
t he Doubl e Jeopardy Clause. We will subject civil forfeiture to
Doubl e Jeopardy anal ysi s when the sanction serves a punitive goal
United States v. Hal per, 490 U S. 435, 448-49, 109 S. C. 1892,
1902, 104 L. Ed. 2d 487 (1989). However, a civil forfeiture wll
not trigger the Double Jeopardy Cause if the anpbunt seized
rationally conpensates the governnment for its |aw enforcenent
troubles. See id. (holding civil forfeitures not punitive if the
anopunt seized is "rationally related to naking the governnent
whol e"); see also United States v. Tilley, 18 F.3d 295, 299 (5th
Cr.), cert. denied, .= US |, 115 S C. 574, 130 L. Ed. 2d
490 (1994) (holding forfeiture of $650,000 worth of property
roughly proportional to governnental and societal |osses caused by
def endant s) .

The district court convicted Witnore of conspiracy to
distribute in excess of five kilograns of cocaine, and sentenced
him on the basis of his participation and involvenent in the
distribution of approximtely four hundred kil ograns of cocai ne.
According to witnesses, the value of this cocaine would be around
eight mllion dollars. Judging from the size of this cocaine
distribution ring and the anount of drugs involved, we hold that

the seizure of Wiitnore's hone, vehicles, and cash was rationally
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related to the governnental and societal |osses associated with
Whitnore's conduct. Accordingly, his subsequent trial and
conviction does not violate the Double Jeopardy C ause. See
Tilley, 18 F.3d at 299 (summarizing the societal and |[|aw
enforcenent costs associated with illicit drugs).
VI
For the foregoing reasons, the judgnent of the district court

i s AFFI RMVED.
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